Urban Tree Establishment

The Impact of Nursery Production Systems and Assessment Methods

Anna Levinsson

Faculty of Landscape Architecture, Horticulture and Crop Production Science Department of Landscape Architecture, Planning and Management Alnarp

> Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Alnarp 2015

Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae 2015:24

photo: Anna Levinsson

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN (print version) 978-91-576-8246-8 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-576-8247-5 © 2015 Anna Levinsson, Alnarp Print: SLU Repro, Alnarp 2015

Urban tree establishment. The impact of nursery production systems and assessment methods

Abstract

The aim of this PhD project was to study tree establishment, both how it may be improved in urban areas and how it is measured and defined. The establishment phase of trees is a period of reduced tree vitality, and a successful establishment is crucial for long-term survival and prosperity of newly planted trees. However, failed plantings and poor establishment is a common problem in the often harsh growing conditions present in urban areas. Improving tree establishment is thus important for securing the presence of trees in urban environments. Another important part is to understand how the process of establishment is expressed in trees, so that the needs of the trees can be met.

Tree nursery industry has recently developed production systems that aim to produce trees that are better prepared for transplanting. This study set out to investigate the effect nursery production systems might have on tree establishment success, and to examine different ways of assessing establishment, since the term is not consistently defined. Sweet cheery and red oak trees, cultivated as either bare-rooted (BR), balled & burlapped (B&B), root-pruned (RP), air-potted (AP) or fabric container (FC) grown were planted at one urban and one rural site in Southern Sweden. The trees were studied during the final nursery year and the four first post-transplant years. The production systems influenced total root length for both species, providing root systems with large differences in appearance. Shoot growth was restored to pre-transplant values for RP, FC and B&B sweet cherry trees at the rural site, three years after transplanting. Water status was significantly higher for AP trees than BR trees of both species, but only during the first year after transplanting, at the rural site. In general, effects of production system were more pronounced at the rural site with the higher water availability, indicating that none of the studied production systems was superior to use in urban plantings. Visual assessments of the establishment success of the trees were affected by leaf size, colour and shape. Leaf size was related to water status. Water status and shoot growth measurements were not correlated during the first years after transplanting. The term establishment can be used in different ways, and the differences might affect the outcome of an establishment assessment.

Keywords: Prunus avium, Quercus rubra, red oak, sweet cherry, transplant stress, tree cultivation, tree vitality, establishment evaluations

Author's address: Anna Levinsson, SLU, Department of Landscape Architecture, planning and Management, P.O. Box 66, 230 53 Alnarp, Sweden *E-mail:* Anna.Levinsson@ slu.se

Contents

List of Publications				
1	Introduction	9		
1.1	Urban forestry	9		
	1.1.1 Research context	9		
	1.1.2 Current situation for newly planted urban trees	10		
	1.1.3 The benefits of urban trees	11		
1.2	Background of this study	12		
2	Aims and research questions	13		
3	Research design & materials	15		
3.1	Materials	15		
	3.1.1 Selection of trees	15		
	3.1.2 Red oak	16		
	3.1.3 Sweet cherry	16		
	3.1.4 Nurseries and production systems	17		
	3.1.5 Planting sites	18		
4	Measurements and results	20		
4.1	Impact of nursery production system on root and shoot growth of trees with different root structure (Paper I) 20			
4.2	with different root structure (Paper I) Impact of production system and site on post-transplant water status	20		
4.2	(Paper II)	21		
4.3	Impact of morphological characteristics on establishment assessments			
	and their relationship to water status (Paper III)	22		
4.4	Impact of measuring method in determining tree establishment, and th	ne		
	possibility to predict field performance (Paper IV)	22		
5	Discussion	24		
5.1	Production of trees for urban landscapes	24		
	5.1.1 Species and tree size effects	26		
5.2	Urban tree planting and management	28		
	5.2.1 Site	28		

	5.2.2	Transplanting and management	28
	5.2.3	What is more important: a vital tree or good planting and	
		establishment management?	29
5.3	Urban	tree establishment	30
	5.3.1	Establishment	30
	5.3.2	Tree vitality and establishment	33
5.4	Reflec	tions on experimental set-up, materials and methods	33
	5.4.1	The trees and the nursery production systems	33
	5.4.2	The measuring methods	35
6	Conclusions		
7	Future studies		
8	Litera	ture cited	41
Acknowledgements			

List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Levinsson, A. (2013). Post-transplant shoot growth of trees from five different production methods is affected by site and species. *Arboriculture* & Urban Forestry 39(5), 201-210.
- II Levinsson, A., Sæbø, A., and Fransson, AM. (2014). Influence of nursery production system on water status in transplanted trees. *Scientia Horticulturae* 178, 124-131.
- III Levinsson, A., van den Bosch, C., Öxell, C., and Fransson, AM. (2015). Visual assessment of establishment success in urban *Prunus avium* (L) and *Quercus rubra* (L) in relation to water status and crown morphological characteristics. *Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, in press.*
- IV Levinsson, A., Fransson, AM., and Emilsson, T. Measuring establishment and post-transplant performance of urban trees (manuscript).

Papers I-III are reproduced with the permission of the publishers.

The contribution of Anna Levinsson to the papers included in this thesis was as follows:

- I Planned the study and collected the data. Did parts of the analyses and wrote the paper.
- II Planned the study and collected the data. Analysed the data and wrote the paper, with feedback from the co-authors.
- III Planned the study, collected and analysed the data together with the coauthors. Wrote the paper, with feedback from the co-authors.
- IV Planned the study and collected the data. Did parts of the data analyses and wrote the paper, with feedback from the co-authors.

1 Introduction

Failed establishment and high young tree mortality is often reported in urban areas (Roman *et al.*, 2014a; Roman *et al.*, 2014b; Gilbertson & Bradshaw, 1990; Nowak *et al.*, 1990). It is therefore essential to improve establishment success and provide a strong foundation for long-term survival and vitality, in order to increase the chances of trees reaching maturity and attaining a size at which they are most beneficial for the urban community. This is also important in justifying the financial investment in tree planting. Finding appropriate planting material is one component of improving establishment results, while another is to monitor the trees by assessing the duration of the establishment phase so that tree requirements can be met.

1.1 Urban forestry

1.1.1 Research context

This thesis has its academic roots within the multidisciplinary field of urban forestry. In the 1960s, the specific challenges of urban tree planting and management began to be recognised, and the concept of urban forestry started to spread, from Canada and the United States to the rest of the world (Konijnendijk *et al.*, 2006). Today, urban forestry encompasses research concerning solitary street trees as well as tree communities in urban parks and peri-urban recreational areas. Urban forestry has been defined as:

"The art, science, and technology of managing trees and forest resources in and around urban community ecosystems..." (Helms, 1998, p. 193).

A fundamental premise of urban forestry is that trees provide society with a range of aesthetic, physiological, environmental and economic benefits. Interconnected by these theories of benefits, researchers from various disciplines, working within the field of urban forestry are seeking to increase

knowledge about the importance of trees for human and environmental wellbeing and about how to improve tree health so that the presence of trees in urban areas is secured. The present study focuses on the latter aspect. Furthermore, although urban forestry covers a broad spectrum and includes many types of trees and complex vegetation systems, the establishment of sparsely planted landscape-sized trees, with no vegetation or only grass as field layer has been the study's focus.

1.1.2 Current situation for newly planted urban trees

Urban areas are generally considered to be a harsh growing environment for trees, with a complex set of abiotic aboveground and belowground factors influencing tree vitality and growth. High surrounding buildings can prevent solar radiation from reaching the canopy, thereby reducing photosynthetic output. Moreover, heat and light reflected from surrounding hard surfaces in urban areas can be detrimental for trees by creating high temperatures at which the trees are no longer capable of keeping stomata open, even if water is available for the roots. Elevated night-time temperatures have been shown to increase night-time respiration, leading to decreased carbohydrate levels in the leaves, which might stimulate photosynthesis on the following day (Searle *et al.*, 2012; Turnbull *et al.*, 2002). However, for increased growth to occur, soil water contents has to be at sufficient levels to meet the demands of increased transpiration and photosynthesis.

The effect of a negative aboveground abiotic environment is exacerbated by suboptimal belowground conditions. In particular, plants in urban areas often have strictly limited or irregular soil water supply due to either improper growth substrates and/or insufficient available soil volumes (Grabosky & Bassuk, 1995). Belowground urban infrastructure leaves little space for tree roots and growth medium, and influences the water movements in the soil, preventing water flows or draining the soils. Soil compaction also limits root space and water flows, which may result in very dry or occasionally very wet anaerobic planting sites. Urban soils have higher amounts of heavy metals and have been shown to be more hydrophobic than surrounding rural soils, conditions that are negative for tree growth and vitality (Gregg *et al.*, 2003; Pouyat *et al.*, 1995). Although studies have shown that urban soils can have higher organic matter content than surrounding soils (Pouyat *et al.*, 1995), at many sites the organic content may be restricted as fallen leaves are removed from the surface.

Planting of trees is associated with a subsequent period of reduced tree vitality. During this period, trees are typically less resistant to pathogens and temperatures outside the normal range, may experience reduced capacity for

winter hardening and are sensitive to drought (Kozlowski & Pallardy, 2002; Rietveld, 1989). The phenomenon is often referred to as transplanting stress, transplant shock/check, or planting stress. Known origins of transplanting stress are the impaired function of the root system resulting from harvesting at the nursery and the transport to a new site, with different growing conditions (Koeser *et al.*, 2009; Grossnickle, 2005; Buckstrup & Bassuk, 2000). Trees often experience transplanting stress as a consequence of reduced water uptake capacity. Reduced shoot growth, smaller leaves, reduced transpiration and a drought-stress appearance are often described symptoms of transplanting stress (e.g. Beeson & Gilman, 1992; Struve & Joly, 1992). If the transplanting stress is severe, the consequences can be desiccation or crown die-back, or even tree death. Restoring the water uptake capacity of the tree is thus crucial for a successful tree planting. Transplanting stress may be severe in the urban environment, due to low water availability, improper management after transplanting or insufficient plant quality.

1.1.3 The benefits of urban trees

Despite many examples of poor tree establishment in urban areas, new trees are continually being planted, not least because of the recognition that vegetation and green spaces are important for human health (Jackson *et al.*, 2013; Rook, 2013; Ulrich, 1984). In dense urban areas, trees may be the dominant vegetation (Davies *et al.*, 2011), and have been shown to improve the health of city dwellers by their presence (Donovan *et al.*, 2011; Tyrväinen *et al.*, 2007). Trees also provide aesthetic values in the urban landscape, as large canopies greatly influence the visual appearance of a site while providing shade at the same site (Summit & Sommer, 1999; Schroeder & Cannon, 1983).

Trees can also reduce the urban heat island effect, a mainly nocturnal phenomenon, in which the normal cooling at sunset is reduced due to heatholding surfaces in buildings and ground materials (Oke, 1982). Negative effects of urban heat islands include increased energy consumption for cooling and compromised human health and comfort due to the high temperatures (Akbari, 2005). Transpiration from vegetation, together with shade from the tree canopies to cover heat energy-absorbing materials, may reduce night temperatures and thereby increase the health status of the urban inhabitants and reduce electricity costs.

Another environmental benefit attributed to urban trees is filtration of air pollutants such as particulate matter (PM) and ozone (Sæbø *et al.*, 2012; Escobedo & Nowak, 2009; Beckett *et al.*, 2000). It has been suggested that the ability of urban vegetation to remove air pollutants is insignificant in northern countries (Setala *et al.*, 2013), a result that contradicts findings of other studies,

which have demonstrated the positive impacts of urban trees on pollutant concentrations (Brack, 2002). Furthermore, trees sequester anthropogenic carbon dioxide potentially reducing the carbon footprint of the city (Searle *et al.*, 2012; Davies *et al.*, 2011; Nowak & Crane, 2002). Trees in urban areas may also improve biodiversity and provide habitats for many other organisms.

1.2 Background of this study

A continuous planting regime is essential in order to maintain the benefits provided by urban trees. Such planting is necessary because old urban trees decrease in vitality and are removed, new geographical areas are developed, or old urban areas redeveloped. Thus, we need to gain better knowledge of how to improve establishment success in different cities and under different conditions, in order to reduce the costs of failed plantings. As one response to failed plantings, the tree nursery industry has created different techniques and new systems designed to improve establishment results by stimulating fine-root growth and by ensuring that a greater proportion of the total root system is included during transplanting (Appleton, 1995). In Sweden, such systems for cultivating trees have been used in nursery production since 1992 (Johansson, personal communication, 2015¹), and are referred to as 'pre-establishing systems' by the tree nursery industry (LRF, 2012). However, the advantages of these systems have not been scientifically tested in comparative studies before in Sweden. Another aspect that might benefit establishment of trees is to gain a greater understanding of how transplanting stress is visually expressed in trees and thereby deduce how to assess their potential for long-term survival and vitality. Such knowledge could help secure a proper management regime for the trees during the establishment phase. Yet another aspect might be to discuss what we include in the term establishment, making contractors, assignors and researchers define the term as they use it.

^{1.} Daniel Johansson, Tönnersjö Plantskola, e-mail 26/1 2015

2 Aims and research questions

The overall aim of this work was to explore the concept of tree establishment in urban areas, both as a biological process and as a practical term. There were two main sets of objectives. The first of these was to evaluate whether tree nursery production can influence post-transplant growth and vitality and whether some production systems are more suited than others to urban growing conditions (Papers I-II); to study the effect of production system on shoot growth after transplanting (Paper I); and on water status and stress symptoms (Paper II). I was also interested in studying the influence of root structure on nursery root growth and post-transplant shoot growth and water status and whether trees with different types of root systems benefit from different production systems and have a higher chance of a successful establishment (Paper I-II). Secondly, I wanted to evaluate and compare methods commonly used for measuring establishment (Papers III and IV) and to study what morphological and physiological features in the tree crown that have impact on visual evaluations of establishment success and which of these that are related to water status (Paper III). I also wanted to study the possibility of predicting post-transplant performance in the nursery (Paper IV). Establishment, vitality and responses to transplanting stress in plants are topics of particular interest to me, and the possibility to study and discuss them has been the focus throughout the work.

Based on these objectives, the following research questions were formulated:

- i. How are nursery root growth and the following post-transplant shoot growth in trees with different root structures affected by different nursery production systems?
- ii. Can nursery systems that stimulate fine-root development affect post-transplant water status, resulting in better water uptake

capacity, and what effect does site have on water status in red oak and sweet cherry trees produced in different nursery systems?

- iii. Which morphological characteristics have the greatest influence on establishment assessments, and is it possible to determine tree water status visually during the establishment phase?
- iv. Does the method used for determining establishment affect the results of an establishment study, and is it possible to predict post-transplant performance already in the nursery?

3 Research design & materials

This work is based on a designed field experiment. The main part of the work includes gathering and analysing quantitative data. However, Paper III also included a component of qualitative data collection and analysis.

3.1 Materials

3.1.1 Selection of trees

Throughout the study, the same trees were used to address the research questions. Red oak (*Ouercus rubra* L.) and sweet cherry (*Prunus avium* L.) trees were selected at two Swedish nurseries in early spring 2007. The choice of species was based on a number of factors: 1) the two species had to be commonly used in urban plantings and well studied scientifically; 2) the two species had to be considered different in terms of transplantability and thus have different types of root structure; 3) since the aim was to investigate potential differences between species with different root structures, it was important to have planting material that was not propagated by inoculation. The trees of both species selected for this study were seed propagated, and the trees within each species were half-siblings. This meant that the risk of the results being affected by genetic variation could not be completely excluded, but the benefits of having trees on their own roots were considered more important. Partial control of genetic background for red oak by using halfsiblings has been described by Struve et al (2000). With these preconditions, the selection of species was carried out in dialogue with City authorities of Malmö, who financed, planted and managed the trees in the city, and GRO (Swedish nursery association), to ensure that trees of appropriate size and quality were available, in suitable quantities.

The trees used in the study had a stem circumference of 14-17 cm at one meter above the root collar when the study started in spring 2007, and the trees

were selected in the nurseries. In addition to stem size, tree selection was based on visual appearance of canopy, with the intention of selecting a group of trees that were as uniform as possible in terms of size and leaf density.

The trees were delivered for transplanting during 2008, when they were of the quality class 16-18, according to the Swedish system for quantifying size on delivery. They were studied at their growing site over the next four growing seasons (2008-2011).

3.1.2 Red oak

The genus *Quercus* belongs to the Fagus family. Oak trees are ring-porous, with a semi-determinate growth pattern, and may have several growth flushes during a growing season, if the conditions are favourable (Abrams, 1990; Hanson *et al.*, 1986). Red oak has its natural habitat in North America, where the distribution extends from Nova Scotia to Georgia (Krüssmann, 1986). Most *Quercus* species are considered well adapted to dry growing conditions although red oak has been described as a species that is restricted to mesic sites in its natural environment (Abrams, 1990).

Red oak leaves are described as having a dark green surface and a pale underneath surface, are placed alternate, lobed with an oblong shape and have red to russet-red autumn colours (Dirr, 1983). Red oak has a wide-spreading crown and grows to around 20 meters in height.

Similarly to other oak species, red oak has deep penetrating roots with a clear tap root (Abrams, 1990). According to Struve (2009), red oak is a coarse-rooted species and relatively difficult to transplant, although it has been described as one of the more easily transplanted of the oak species (Dirr, 2004). According to Watson & Himelick (1997), *Quercus* species are best suited for spring transplanting.

3.1.3 Sweet cherry

Prunus is a genus within the Rosaceae family, consisting of about 430 species, and sweet cherry belongs to the subgenus *Cerasus* (Krüssmann, 1986). Sweet cherry is semi-ring-porous and can have a semi-determinate growth pattern, with more than one growth flush per season. However, under normal Swedish conditions it is determinate, with one flush per season. The root system is fibrous. Sweet cherry grows across Europe to Asia Minor, the Caucasus and western Siberia (Krüssmann, 1986).

Sweet cherry has a reddish brown bark. Its leaves are ovate-oblong shaped, bronze coloured in spring and turn dark green during the growing season. The autumn colours are yellow to red and bronzed (Dirr, 2004). The crown is wide-spreading and the trees can grow to approximately 15-20 meters in height.

Prunus has been described as best suited for spring planting (Watson & Himelick, 1997).

3.1.4 Nurseries and production systems

In Sweden, most trees are traditionally field grown. However, there are some more modern production systems that are defined as 'pre-establishing' by the nursery industry (GRO). The theory is that these systems produce a tree with a high amount of fine-roots and that this in turn is beneficial during transplanting and should facilitate establishment. Another theory is that transplanting stress could be partly handled in the nursery, under a more controlled environment, leaving the trees better prepared once they arrive at their final destination. Commonly, field-grown trees are installed in a preestablishing system for one or two years prior to transplanting.

In this project, trees from five different production systems were included. The intention was to choose both traditional and more recently developed production systems, all of which are commonly used in current Swedish plantings. The trees' production systems were: bare-rooted (BR), balled & burlapped (B&B), root-pruned (RP), air-potted (AP), and fabric-container (FC) grown. Up to the start of the study in spring 2007, all trees had been treated similarly. They were field-grown, nine years old and had been replanted three times. The red oak trees were cultivated in a moderately organic loam and the sweet cherry trees in a moderately organic sandy loam. The trees were randomly divided into five different groups and treated according to standard practice for the selected production system during the final nursery growing season. The treatments were:

• BR and B&B trees were kept undisturbed in the field. At the final harvesting in spring 2008, both groups were excavated, and all the soil was shaken off from the root systems of the BR trees. The root balls (roots and soil) of the B&B trees were wrapped in degradable burlap with a surrounding wire.

• RP trees were subjected to root pruning in spring 2007 without being lifted from their growing location and were kept mixed with the BR and B&B trees throughout the season. At the final harvesting in 2008, they were treated as B&B trees.

• The AP trees were harvested in spring 2007, treated according to the B&B treatment and moved to an experienced air-potting nursery. The trees were placed above-ground on a polypropylene ground-cloth and the root ball of each was wrapped with perforated plastic, making a container (Fig. 1). A sand-peat mixture was used to fill the space between the root ball and the plastic. At the final harvesting, the plastic was removed and the trees were burlapped before transportation.

• The FC trees were also harvested in 2007 and delivered as BR trees to the nursery. The roots were pruned and the trees were planted in a sand-peat mixture in a fabric container. The fabric containers were then installed inground in the field (Fig. 2). At the final harvesting in spring 2008, the trees were lifted from the field and delivered with the fabric container around the root ball. The container was removed at transplanting.



Figure 1 and 2. Trees placed in air-pots, with the perforation of the plastic visible in the upper part of the pots and field-grown trees in the background (left), and a red oak tree placed in an in-ground fabric container (right).

3.1.5 Planting sites

After the final harvesting in the nurseries, the trees were delivered to the planting sites before bud burst in spring 2008. To study whether the post-transplant reactions to the production systems were site-specific, the trees were planted at two different sites, within the City of Malmö and in the experimental fields at the University of Agricultural Sciences in Alnarp.

In Malmö, the trees were planted along two streets in a high-rise residential area, with one street for each species. The trees were placed in blocks, with one tree from each production system in each block. The trees were planted in a three meter wide grass-strip alongside the street (Fig 3). There was some variation in the immediate surroundings of the grass-strip, which comprised houses, parking spaces or playgrounds. The soil had a silty loam texture and the experimental trees replaced old *Ulmus* trees, using the same planting positions. A circle one meter in diameter around the trees was kept grass-free by a layer of gravel. The trees were irrigated by the City of Malmö according to their tree establishment programme, resulting in the trees being irrigated

approximately every two weeks during the growing seasons for two years. No irrigation was supplied during the following years.

In the experimental fields in Alnarp, which lie on a sandy loam soil, the trees were planted 4.5 meters apart (Fig. 4). The trees were placed in rows consisting of five trees (one from each production system), in a randomised complete block design. A dripirrigation system was installed and the trees were irrigated at night-time during the two first post-transplant years. The water flow was modified to meet the seasonal variation in order to ensure adequate water availability. The soil was covered by a single-layered polypropylene ground-cloth prevent to competition from weeds.

No formative pruning or fertilization was performed on any of the trees during the study



Figure 3. The newly planted red oak trees in Malmö.

period. One sweet cherry FC tree died in the nursery and was not replaced, and one BR red oak tree died in Malmö during the first winter after transplanting and was replaced by the city. The new tree was not included in the experiment.



Figure 4. The trees planted in the experimental fields at Alnarp, with sweet cherry in the upper part of the field, and red oak in the lower.

4 Measurements and results

4.1 Impact of nursery production system on root and shoot growth of trees with different root structure (Paper I)

Determinations of total fine-root length of the trees from the different production systems showed that the two species seemed to react to the fineroot-stimulating measures in the nursery, except for root pruning of red oak. Air-potting stimulated fine-root growth for both species, resulting in root systems showing several-fold greater total length of small-diameter roots than the undisturbed field-grown trees. Fabric container cultivation also had a positive impact on fine-root length for both species. However, root pruning appeared to have no positive effect on new root formation in red oak, and fineroot length in RP red oak trees did not differ from that in B&B trees. The RP sweet cherry trees had the highest fine-root length of the five production systems studied.

Shoot growth was determined during the last nursery year and in the four first years after transplanting. All trees of both species exhibited significantly reduced shoot growth during the two first years after transplanting at both planting sites, compared with the shoot growth in the nursery (p<0.001, both sites and species). This reduction persisted throughout the study for the red oak trees, which still had very limited shoot growth four years after transplanting at both sites. However, all sweet cherry trees showed a significant increase in shoot growth during the third growing season at Alnarp and B&B, FC and RP trees regained their pre-transplant shoot growth values during that season. The shoot growth was less than the growth in the nursery year for all production systems again in the following year (2011), but still clearly higher than in the two first post-transplant years. During this year, there were no differences between the production systems. There was an increase in shoot growth for sweet cherry during the two last years of the study in Malmö, but shoot growth was still significantly lower than the pre-transplant values.

4.2 Impact of production system and site on post-transplant water status (Paper II)

Shoot water potential (Ψ) was measured midday (Ψ_M) and the following predawn (Ψ_{PD}) during the three first years after transplanting, in order to study tree water status. Leaf stomatal conductance and soil moisture content were determined at the time of the midday water potential measurements. Leaf surface area was also determined, since water stress reduces leaf area, and transplanting stress has been shown to affect leaf size, but not number of leaves (Struve & Joly, 1992).

There were significant differences in Ψ_M for both species between the production systems on the midday measuring occasions in Alnarp during the first year after transplanting. AP trees had significantly higher Ψ_M values than BR trees. For red oak, FC and RP trees were also statistically separated from BR trees. These differences persisted at the pre-dawn measurements for red oak. However, for sweet cherry there were no differences in Ψ_{PD} between the production systems. There were no differences between the production systems at Alnarp for either of the species during the following years.

Occasional differences between the production systems were identified for red oak in Malmö during the years of the study. AP and RP trees had higher Ψ_M than BR and B&B trees (p=0.001) at the first measurement occasion during the first year. FC red oak trees had higher values than RP trees on a minority of measuring occasions during the second year. No differences were found during the third season for red oak. For sweet cherry, no differences were found in Malmö on any measuring occasion over the years.

During the first year after transplanting, leaf surface area was strongly reduced compared with that of the trees in the nursery year at both sites for both species, except for AP red oak at Alnarp, which had a leaf area comparable to the nursery values. Also in Malmö, AP red oak had significantly larger leaves than the other trees, although not comparable to leaf surface area in the nursery year. This difference did not persist during the second year, when trees in all the other production systems exhibited a small increase in leaf surface area, while AP red oak had a decreased leaf surface area compared with the previous year. In general, the trees had the smallest leaf surface area during the first post-transplant year, and the leaf surface area increased in every year throughout the study. For the trees at Alnarp, this increase led to regained pre-transplant leaf surface area three years after planting. There were no differences between production systems after the first post-transplant year.

4.3 Impact of morphological characteristics on establishment assessments and their relationship to water status (Paper III)

Establishment success was assessed on all trees by seven professional establishment evaluators during the third season after transplanting. The visual assessments were comparable to the commonly performed establishment evaluations that are carried out on street trees as common practice after transplanting. The objective of the study was to compare the assessments with morphological characteristics of the leaves and crown, and with water status, with the aim to find leaf morphological links between water status and visual establishment assessments. The evaluators performed their assessments on two partly cloudy days, followed their own protocols for evaluations and had no time limitations for the assessment. The assessments were accompanied by a short survey with both closed and open-ended questions, in which the evaluators graded the importance of different characteristics in their assessments and described how secure they felt in their assessments.

A number of leaf morphological characteristics were determined on the trees, including: leaf colour, leaf area and leaf length and, for red oak, leaf shape and number of lobes. Moreover, crown density, crown shape and dieback were estimated and shoot growth was measured.

The relationships between the visual establishment assessments and the results from determination of morphological characteristics were studied, as were the relationships between seasonal mean pre-dawn shoot water potential (Ψ_{PD}) and visual establishment assessment and crown characteristics.

Multiple regressions showed that the visual establishment assessments were strongly related to leaf shape and leaf colour for red oak and to leaf area for sweet cherry. Leaf area was the parameter most strongly related to water status for both species. However, we found no obvious relationship between the water status and visual establishment assessments for either of the species.

4.4 Impact of measuring method in determining tree establishment, and the possibility to predict field performance (Paper IV)

Midday and pre-dawn shoot water potential (Ψ_M and Ψ_{PD}), leaf stomatal conductance (g_s), terminal and lateral shoot elongation and leaf area measurements were included in species-specific principal component analysis (PCA), including both the urban and the field sites. The objective of the analyses was to study whether and how the different techniques for determining establishment were related to each other. Linear regression

analyses were performed to study the relationship between Ψ_M and Ψ_{PD} , and a nightly recovery index (NR) was developed as an indicator of the capability of the individual tree to nightly recovery from midday water status. The index also permitted inclusion of both midday and pre-dawn measurements in the same value.

Photosynthetic capacity was monitored by determination of chlorophyll fluorescence measured as Fv/Fm, during the nursery year. The Fv/Fm measurements, as well as shoot growth measurements and determinations of stem circumference in the nursery, were used in linear regression analyses and tested against post-transplant shoot growth (both terminal and lateral), stem circumference increment during the first post-transplant year, annual mean NR, and crown die-back, to test if post-transplant performance could be predicted in the nursery. Crown die-back values were determined as the weight of all dead parts in the canopy after the first post-transplant winter. The objective of this part of the study was to study whether post-transplant performance could be predicted on an individual level in the nursery.

The PCA showed that Ψ_M and Ψ_{PD} values were strongly correlated, and both were also correlated to conductance. The R² values of the linear regressions showed that Ψ_M could be explained better by Ψ_{PD} values in each year. This tendency was clear for both species, potentially indicating that the relationship between the two measurements strengthens with establishment. The R² values were 0.93 and 0.83 for red oak and sweet cherry, respectively, during the third year after transplanting.

The PCA also showed that terminal and lateral shoot growth were strongly correlated but not connected to the water-related measurements, during all years. However, the annual multiple regressions with NR as response showed that there was a relationship between NR and shoot growth during the third year of the study.

Post-transplant performance could not be predicted by either nursery chlorophyll fluorescence values or nursery shoot growth measurements in this study. Separating the trees into production system-specific groups did not change these results.

5 Discussion

There are many factors influencing the outcome of tree transplanting. Selection of species, tree size, time of year, nursery production system, site conditions and post-transplant management are all examples of factors often discussed as having great impact on tree establishment success. Hirons and Percival (2012) listed four groups of key factors involved in successful tree establishment: plant quality, planting and post-planting, rooting environment, and tree ecophysiology. Skill in combining all relevant factors determines the outcome of the planting. Nonetheless, transplanting causes symptoms of stress. Transplanting stress is inevitable and some degree of stress is to be expected even under very good conditions (Rietveld, 1989). However, if the stress becomes too severe the trees may not survive the transplanting. The development of new nursery production systems aims at improving plant quality in order to increase survival and post-transplant vitality for landscapesized trees. Another aim is to grow trees that are suitable for urban conditions, and that have an extended planting period (Ferrini & Nicese, 2006; Ferrini et al., 2000).

5.1 Production of trees for urban landscapes

Post-transplant behaviour, with typically reduced growth rates, reduced crown density and low vitality, is a well-known phenomenon that has been attributed to reduced water uptake capacity. The loss of roots at harvesting and/or the loss of contact between roots and soil have significant impact on post-transplant water uptake (Burdett, 1990). In traditional field-growing production systems, trees inevitably lose a great proportion of their root system at harvesting. Field-grown trees have been shown to lose 32% of their dry root weight at harvest or 88% of their fine-root system measured as total fine-root length (Gilman & Beeson, 1996a). In attempts to improve post-transplant growth and vitality,

various modifications of nursery treatments have been conducted (Aghai *et al.*, 2014; Harris *et al.*, 1998; Struve *et al.*, 1989). Widening the root-balls had a positive effect on leaf size and shoot elongation, compared with trees produced with industry standard root balls (Struve *et al.*, 1989). Solfjeld and Hansen (2004) concluded that a large root ball is more beneficial than a small root ball but Harris *et al.* (1998) found that differences in root ball size did not affect post-transplant trunk and height growth.

Several studies have confirmed that nursery production systems, such as different container types, significantly alter the plant root systems (Paper I, Amoroso et al., 2010; Gilman et al., 2010a; Campbell et al., 2006). However, there is little consistency among studies in how these differences affect posttransplant performance or whether they even have any effect on post-transplant performance (Gilman et al., 2010b; Buckstrup & Bassuk, 2000; Ferrini et al., 2000; Harris & Gilman, 1993). The reasons mentioned for the inconsistency between studies are differences in protocols, post-transplant management and site conditions (Ferrini et al., 2000). One conclusion might be that production systems do not have a fundamental or superior effect on post-transplant performance, but that in order for a production system to be beneficial for trees, certain conditions are needed. The results in this project did not indicate that any of the five production systems studied was more beneficial for the dryer, urban growing site in Malmö. The results also indicated that posttransplant survival and vitality was possible for trees from all the studied production systems (Papers I and II).

The management of the trees in the nursery has also been discussed as a factor of importance for tree establishment. Burdett (1990) suggested that planting material can be prepared in the nursery for dry planting sites by acclimatising the plants to restricted water availability. In a study on deficit irrigation, drought-tolerant species were concluded to improve their post-transplant performance when irrigation was withheld in the nursery (Ferrini, personal communication²). However, such treatment was not recommended for drought-avoiding species. Lloyd *et al.* (2006) showed that nutrient loading in the nursery could have a positive effect on post-transplant growth, during the first year after transplanting. However, the trees with a higher post-transplant growth rate also experienced higher photosynthetic reduction during drought. Another study showed that fertilisation of red oak seedlings in the nursery had a negative impact on post-transplant survival and growth, an effect attributed to a high shoot:root ratio (Bumgarner *et al.*, 2008). It has also been argued that the large biological investment in creating a high number of fine-roots in the

^{2.} Francesco Ferrini, full Professor, Department of Crop, Soil and Environmental Science, University of Florence, Italy. E-mail 2/2 2015. Data not yet published.

nursery might deplete the tree's carbohydrate reserves, forcing it to focus on assimilating carbon before it can grow new tissues (Campbell *et al.*, 2006). Jones *et al.* (2002) argued that the response of seedlings to the production system used in the nursery does not predict post-transplant performance.

Comparing BR and B&B trees, Buckstrup and Bassuk (2000) found that there were differences in growth between trees from these two production systems during the first post-transplant year, and that the differences depended on both species and time of planting. The differences did not persist during the second year. However, in this project differences in shoot growth between the different production systems were detectable for both species during the three first post-transplant years, and also during the fourth post-transplant year for sweet cherry (Paper I). Gilman and co-workers found in several experiments comparing different production systems that there were no differences between the various production systems after one year when irrigation was sufficient (Gilman, 2001; Gilman & Beeson, 1996b). However, container-grown trees died faster and to a greater extent than field-grown, root-pruned, B&B trees under limited water supply (Gilman, 2001). In this project, the effects of the production systems increased when water availability was higher (Papers I and II). There is reported to be a risk of very dry soil in the rooting environment around container-grown trees because container substrates often have high airfilled porosity, which is favourable during production, but after transplanting, water can be pulled out from the container soil as this does not have an as good water holding capacity as the surrounding soil matrix (Harris, 2007). The trees from AP and FC in this project were cultivated in a peat-sand mixture, a very different texture from the soils at the transplanting sites. This could have influenced the outcome.

5.1.1 Species and tree size effects

The choice of species may have an effect on the response of tree or seedling to a certain nursery system (Anella *et al.*, 2008; Ferrini & Nicese, 2006; Struve, 1993). It has been argued that species with fibrous root systems are more easily acclimatised to various container types than coarse-rooted species (Schuch *et al.*, 2000). In the present study, the two species responded to the different fineroot stimulating nursery treatments, except for RP red oak, which did not react positively to the root treatment, whereas sweet cherry RP trees had a high fineroot amount (Paper I). The two species also showed similar post-transplant shoot water potential reactions to the production systems, but showed differences in shoot growth and leaf surface area (Papers I and II). Other factors that might influence a species response to nursery production systems might be whether the species is described as shallow-rooted, or whether it stores carbohydrates in the finer or in the coarser parts of the root system (Ferrini & Nicese, 2006; vanHees, 1997).

Moreover, species are often described in terms of how easily they are transplanted, and some species or genera are considered difficult to transplant. Struve (2009) argued that species with fibrous root systems are more easily transplanted because they have a higher root regeneration potential than coarse-rooted species. It is also argued that ring-porous species are more sensitive to "rough handling" than defuse-porous species, due to the risk of xylem dysfunction (Struve, 2009). Sweet cherry is generally considered to be easier to transplant than red oak. However, Suokup et al. (2004) pointed out that there is a clear difference in susceptibility to environmental differences between species, and that due to better formation of secondary protective tissue in roots of oak than of cherry, oak seedlings have higher endurance during acclimation. In this project, the fibrous-rooted sweet cherry had regained pretransplant shoot growth three seasons after planting at Alnarp, whereas the coarse-rooted red oak trees still had significantly lower shoot growth even four years after transplanting (Paper I). There was also a smaller variation in visual appearance between the sweet cherry trees in the third season after transplanting than between the red oak trees (Paper III). These results are in line with the claims by Struve (2009) regarding root structure and transplantability. The results reported by Soukup et al. (2004) were not confirmed in this project, since the red oak trees at the dry site in Malmö did not show better results than the sweet cherry trees at the same site.

There have been discussions on whether a small or a large tree is more easily established. The size parameter was kept constant in this study. Still, Struve et al. (2000) mention that the common perception of better performance of smaller trees could be due to transplanted small trees being individuals that have grown faster than their surrounding trees in the nursery and are ready to be harvested sooner. Thus, good results are not because of the smaller size of the tree, but because of the tree's high vitality and growth capacity (Struve et al., 2000). Those authors also note that the larger trees may have been exposed to potentially harmful treatments if kept in the nursery for a longer time, such as compaction of the soil when harvesting other trees, and refer to a study by Neal and Whitlow (1997) that found that growth rates had declined for large trees before transplanting. Based on trunk calliper and height growth, Struve et al (2000) concluded that smaller trees had a higher survival rate, but that larger trees instead had a faster establishment. These results contradict the model by Watson (1985), showing that the expected time for a large tree to regain roots lost at harvesting and start to put on growth is so long that a small tree will outgrow it in a few years after transplanting. In a study by Gilman et al.

(1998), small-sized trees increased their trunk diameter and tree height faster during the first 27 months after transplanting than the larger trees. Similar results have been reported in a size-comparison study by Lauderdale *et al.* (1995). It has also been argued that smaller trees have higher plasticity to acclimatise to the new growing site. On the other hand, larger trees have potentially stored reserves to a greater extent than smaller trees. Today, increasingly large trees are being planted in urban settings. The desire for fast aesthetic improvements and immediate effects of planting are likely to be the driving force behind the trend, but a reduced risk of vandalism might also contribute. This development trend places high demands on the nursery industry to produce trees that are possible to transplant in large sizes.

5.2 Urban tree planting and management

5.2.1 Site

The particular challenge of urban tree establishment is often connected with the harsh conditions at the growing site and great efforts have been made to find on-site technical solutions to improve establishment and vitality results. First introduced in 1995, load-bearing structural soils of various types have become often occurring elements when constructing new growing sites (Grabosky & Bassuk, 1995), permitting roots to explore spaces otherwise filled with compacted soil. In Copenhagen, so-called super-planting pits have been introduced in an attempt to increase the amount of root-available soil for street trees and thus increase urban tree vitality (Buhler *et al.*, 2007). Attempts have also been made to construct root paths that permit roots to reach other root-friendly areas for example on the other side of a pavement, by providing root tunnels from the growing site. However, these root paths have not yet been evaluated in scientific studies (Watson & Himelick, 2013).

Tests have also been made on constructing sites where stormwater is lead to root available reservoirs, instead of straight to the storm water pipes (Bartens *et al.*, 2009). Such systems could improve both urban tree water status and stormwater management.

5.2.2 Transplanting and management

Transplanting exposes trees to a great number of stress factors, starting with harvesting in the nursery and proceeding until full establishment has been reached at the new growing site (Koeser *et al.*, 2009). Trees risk having their trunk or root systems clamped during transportation, and vibrations from vehicles may further disrupt the root systems and cause damage to crowns and trunks. Moreover, the risk of dehydration of the root systems is great during

transport, particularly for bare-rooted trees. However, dehydration may also occur in trees that are delivered with their growth medium still surrounding the root ball, since harvesting and transportation may affect the contact between root and soil, and it is in this contact that most water uptake by the roots occur. Long transport distances or strong exposure to sun at the planting site before transplanting can also dry out the root ball.

Time of year may also affect the outcome of the planting. In a study of root and shoot periodicity in the Northern hemisphere, only planting in July seemed to negatively affect post-transplant growth of trees compared with planting in November, December, March and April (Richardson-Calfee *et al.*, 2007). Several studies have shown that the optimal planting time is species-dependent (Yin *et al.*, 2014; Solfjeld & Hansen, 2004), or that time of planting may have little effect on establishment for some species (Solfjeld & Pedersen, 2006).

In many cases, trees are planted at sites with sun exposure that differs from the exposure in the nursery, in different hardiness zones and/or at sites with different humidity levels (Watson & Himelick, 1997). In an acclimatisation study, trees that had been grown under partly shady conditions displayed a lower capacity to preserve water balance under drought stress than trees grown in full sunlight, indicating that the nursery conditions may influence acclimatisation after transplanting of leaved trees (Fini *et al.*, 2014).

Furthermore, poor establishment management affects post-transplant survival and vitality. Studies by Gilman and co-workers have shown that frequency of irrigation can have a greater influence on post-transplant performance than production system, and that regular irrigation gave better results than irregular (Gilman, 2001; Gilman *et al.*, 1998). In this project, adequate irrigation during the two first post-transplant years had a positive effect on post-transplant performance (Papers I and II).

5.2.3 What is more important: a vital tree or good planting and establishment management?

A reoccurring issue within studies of establishment is whether good plant material or good establishment management is more important for successful tree establishment. It has been stated several times by Gilman and co-workers that regular irrigation has the highest impact on post-transplant growth (Gilman, 2001; Gilman *et al.*, 1998). In a comparative study, Koeser *et al.* (2009) found that rough handling and transport of the trees had a greater impact on post-transplant growth and survival than the unavoidable root loss at harvesting. Struve (2009) suggest that handling during production, shipping and transplanting, together with poor site qualities, have greater effects on transplant shock than biological limitations of the trees. Lindqvist (2000) on

the other hand, argues that bad plant quality cannot be compensated for by intensive establishment management, while Pinto *et al.* (2011) reason that the outcome of a silvicultural planting often relies on pre-planting decisions.

In this study, nursery measurements indicated that all trees had an acceptable vitality at transplanting (Paper IV). The Fv/Fm values ranged from 0.77 to 0.85 and shoot water measurements indicated that water availability and water uptake capacity were normal, and that the trees were no more than mildly stressed at any measuring occasion in the last nursery year (data not published). Site conditions seemed to have at least as great an influence on post-transplant results as production system (Papers I and II) indicating that a drier planting site could not be compensated for with pre-establishing measures in the nursery. Provided that all trees are of acceptable quality at harvesting, post-harvest measures might be more important for transplantability than the nursery production systems compared in this project.

5.3 Urban tree establishment

5.3.1 Establishment

Burdett (1990) distinguish the tree establishment phase as a period when tree performance is not only dependent on genetic factors, plant interactions and site, but also its environmental history, such as nursery management and conditions. Establishment, establishment success, early establishment, establishment phase, established and fully established are words often used in tree studies concerning the cultivation, transplanting and post-transplant behaviour of trees and seedlings (e.g. Aghai *et al.*, 2014; Pinto *et al.*, 2011b). Although frequently used, the term establishment lacks a workable definition (Struve, 1990). Establishment success is often used synonymously with survival (Pinto *et al.*, 2011b; Löf *et al.*, 2004) growth (Solfjeld & Hansen, 2004; Gilman *et al.*, 1998) or water status (Scheiber *et al.*, 2007; Beeson, 1994). The term establishment can also be used technically, describing the planting occasion or installation of trees (Roman *et al.*, 2014b; Buhler *et al.*, 2007; Jacobs *et al.*, 2005).

In this project, the morphological and physiological responses to transplanting were studied, as well as pre-transplant factors that could have an effect on these processes. The term establishment therefore included posttransplant processes beyond transplant survival, and the establishment phases and the meaning of full establishment in focus.

Balance of root and shoot

The assumption that a tree can be considered established once it has restored its root-shoot balance is generally used in establishment studies (e.g. Harris *et al.*, 1998; Beeson & Gilman, 1992; Watson, 1985), although measured in several different ways. Rietveld (1989) argued that rapid growth signals establishment success, and Day and Harris (2007) mentioned that trees need to put on significant growth to be established and that when the establishment phase is over, the trees reach a more environmentally productive phase. They also suggested that an established tree may no longer need irrigation. Scheiber *et al.*, (2007) focused on water uptake during the establishment phase, hypothesizing that the establishment phase is over when water potential values are similar to values of surrounding trees that have not been transplanted. This implies that the root system is capable of meeting the water demand of the tree and that a balance is restored. Struve *et al.* (2000) considered trees to be established when they did not show signs of water stress after a period of mild drought.

There is still not a full understanding of how captured resources are distributed and of the mechanisms that govern partitioning (Marschner *et al.*, 1996). Hypotheses describing the distribution of captured resources between roots and shoots have been formulated. The most common hypothesis assumes a balanced growth, meaning that the partitioning of resources is allocated so that the tissue providing the most limiting resource is favoured (Shipley & Meziane, 2002).

The functional equilibrium described by Brouwer (1983) explains the continuous modification of tree roots and shoots to obtain a ratio that is functional under the conditions present. It has been shown that as a response to changes in their environment, trees may modify their shoot:root ratio (Hermans *et al.*, 2006; Mcartney & Ferree, 1999). It has also been shown that the responses to different types of environmental changes or stresses, vary with the type of stress imposed (Wang *et al.*, 2012), time of the imposed stress (Mcmillin & Wagner, 1995) and species (vanHees, 1997), and that shoot:root ratio differs between species even in similar conditions (Gilman & Beeson, 1996a). In a study of responses in pedunculate oak (*Quercus robur*) and beech (*Fagus sylvatica*) to drought and shade, vanHees (1997) showed that both species responded to shade with reduced shoot growth, increased partitioning to stem and roots and increased leaf area, but that when drought stressed, beech increased the partitioning to fine roots and oak increased the partitioning to the coarse roots.

The hypothesis of functional equilibrium implies that trees produced in systems where they do not lose an extensive amount of roots before transplanting may still be affected by the transplanting since they need to modify their growth to meet the new growing conditions. For a landscape-sized tree, this restoration of balance might take several years (Watson, 1985).

Harris (2007) argues that the better results from B&B trees compared with container grown trees, reported in some studies might be due to the B&B trees root tips being disturbed, which could stimulate root growth, hastening the restoration of the shoot:root balance. However, disturbance of the root tips may also affect the production of hormones that are important for bud break and shoot elongation, which are often produced in roots and transported to the shoots via the vascular system (Gregory, 2006; Taiz & Zeiger, 1998; Lavender *et al.*, 1973). The complex systems and interactions of hormones are not handled or discussed in this study.

Establishment process and phases

Described as a process by Rietveld (1989), the establishment can be separated into different phases. The first phase starts at transplanting, after which trees experience various degrees of stress. This occurs since trees need to rely on the existing roots and stored carbohydrates for water uptake and root regeneration (Grossnickle, 2005). If the tree survives the initial planting stress it enters the next phases, in which it restores the root-shoot balance by adjusting to the new growing environment (Grossnickle, 2005; Rietveld, 1989).

Although establishment is a commonly used term within studies of transplanting, it is not clear when a tree is fully established. Rapid growth is the signal that the seedling is established, according to Rietveld (1989). Grossnickle (2005) states that a seedling is established when it is coupled to the hydrological cycle of the site. This refers to water being absorbed by plant roots and transpired from stomata or being directly evaporated from the soil to the atmosphere from which it eventually falls as rain (Raven et al., 1999). Some of the sweet cherry trees in this project had regained pre-transplant shoot growth after three growing seasons at Alnarp (Paper I), and might be considered established at that point, using the suggestion by Day and Harris (2007) and Rietveld (1989). During that year, both species regained leaf surface area at Alnarp comparable to the pre-transplant values (Paper II). However, on visual examination, most trees of both species and from both sites were assessed as established (Paper III). There were no control trees included in this project, so the comparison suggested by Scheiber et al. (2007) could not be performed for the trees. It was found that during the third year there was a relationship between shoot growth and water status (Paper IV), whereas, during the preceding years, water status and shoot growth were not related. These results indicate that on a shorter time scale, the choice of measuring

method affects the assessment whether trees can be considered established. The differences in the results between the production systems in Paper I and II also indicate this. If only growth measurements had been included in the project, the conclusion would have been that the differences between the production systems persisted throughout the study and that the effect of production systems was larger on RP, FC and B&B sweet cherry trees. However, had the project relied on measurements of Ψ , red oak would have been considered most affected by the various treatments in the nursery, and AP would have appeared preferable for good post-transplant performance. And the differences between after transplant.

5.3.2 Tree vitality and establishment

Vitality is a theoretical concept (Dobbertin, 2005), described as a tree's capability to grow under the prevailing conditions, or ability to handle stress. Vitality and establishment are two closely related concepts, since success of establishment is dependent on the tree's vitality. However, there are differences between the concepts, since an established tree might experience reduced vitality. Vitality is often determined on a whole-plant level, regarding canopy shape and density, colour, growth and occurrence of pathogens (Johnstone *et al.*, 2013). A study within this project indicated that leaf colour was important in visual determinations of establishment, but not strongly related to the water status of the trees (Paper III). Since it is connected to nutrient uptake and supply, the leaf colour could be an important factor in vitality assessment (Martinez-Trinidad *et al.*, 2010), but it may say little of the tree's connection to the hydrological cycle at the new site, if that is used as definition of establishment success.

5.4 Reflections on experimental set-up, materials and methods

5.4.1 The trees and the nursery production systems

As part of this project, potential differences in post-transplant behaviour between trees produced in five existing nursery systems in Sweden were examined. The main aim of these production systems is to modify the root system so that the trees have a greater amount of roots at transplanting and thereby better resources for water uptake, since water has been stated to be the crucial factor for establishment success. This conclusion was not questioned, and its relevance was not tested. The trees were subjected to the treatments according to industry standards (LRF, 2012) and subjected to common practices in the existing nurseries. This involved moving some trees to new

nurseries, where they were installed in new growth medium and given different amounts of fertilisers. As a consequence, the amounts of accessible nutrients for the trees during the first year of the study differed between the production systems. It has been shown that the nursery growth substrate can have a posttransplant effect on plant material (Pacifici et al., 2013), and the benefits and disadvantages of applying large amounts of fertiliser in the nursery before transplanting have been discussed (Bumgarner et al., 2008; Llovd et al., 2006). Thus, there were potential differences in nutrient amounts within the trees at transplanting, which might have affected the outcomes. It is impossible to say whether the results obtained would have been the same had the fertilization regimes been different. However, since one essential part of the preestablishing systems include installing the trees in containers with fine-root stimulating substrates of their own mixture, the inequality of nutrients could not have been avoided, and equality had also not been relevant, since that would have provided a non-existing nursery production system. It has been argued that providing different amounts of irrigation and fertilisation to different nursery regimes create confounding effects in trials and should be avoided (Pinto et al., 2011a). However, providing the same amounts in this project would have been confounding, since the prerequisites during the last nursery year differed between production systems, resulting in different demands depending on system. Standardised management would not have reflected existing nursery systems. However, including determinations of the nutrient status of the trees throughout the work would have provided a better understanding of the potential impact of these differences on post-transplant performance. It could also have potentially shed light on the differences in leaf colour, observed in Paper III. Leaf nutrient status was determined at the end of the growing season in 2009, two seasons after transplanting, for all trees. Although there were differences in nutrient status between the red oak trees, these differences were not related to any of the other measurements performed during that season. It was also inevitable that trees were delivered with root balls of different sizes. However, root ball size was not essential for total fineroot length (Paper I).

It has been suggested that different production systems provide trees of different root quality (Wilson *et al.*, 2007). The quality of the root systems was not investigated in this study. In addition, it was not possible to study the effects on long-term vitality and survival during the limited amount of time available.

All the trees were planted in early spring. One argument for container growing of trees is that it provides trees that are transplantable at any time of year, including in the growing season, whereas it is normally considered only suitable to plant bare-rooted and balled & burlapped trees outside the growing season. Thus, this potential advantage of the pre-establishing systems was not exploited in this project. The aim with the experimental set-up was to avoid any time of year considered unfavourable for any of the production systems.

5.4.2 The measuring methods

Water status and chlorophyll fluorescence

For determinations of water status, shoot water potential was measured midday and pre-dawn, combined with determinations of leaf stomatal conductance. Water potential measurement is a well-known method, developed by Scholander and co-workers (Scholander et al., 1965) and is frequently used in determinations of water status in trees (Rahman et al., 2014; Resco et al., 2008). It is recognised for its ease of use, particularly in field (Turner, 1988). By installing a cut-off shoot tip in a pressure chamber and increasing the pressure within the chamber by letting in nitrogen, the water that was withdrawn from the cut surface when the water column was broken returns to the cut surface. The amount of pressure needed to regain that water to the surface is an estimate of the water potential in the shoot, and thus an indication of the amount of water in the shoot. Water potential measurements are recognised as a valid method in determinations of water status during establishment (Scheiber et al., 2007; Beeson, 1994). Williams and Arajou (2002) has shown in a study on grape vine a strong relationship between midday and pre-dawn water potential measurements and stem water potential. Similar results were found in the present project on comparing midday- and pre-dawn shoot water potential and stomatal conductance values (Paper IV). Measuring midday water potential in a pressure bomb has also been recognized as a tool for determining water status in Prunus (Abdelfatah et al., 2013). Although water potential measurements are common and often used, including other determinations of water status and physiological response to transplanting would have provided a fuller picture of the differences between measuring methods, described in Paper IV. Possible complementary methods could include determination of water use efficiency by determination of photosynthetic rate/transpiration (Pacifici et al., 2013) or determination of the concentration of the carbon-isotope 13C (δ 13C) in leaves. First shown by Farquhar and Richards (1984), & 13C analyses can be used to determine wateruse efficiency based on the principle that plants discriminate against 13C during CO2 assimilation and the relative amount is increased as stomatal closure is more frequent during periods of photosynthesis. Such determinations

could have provided a seasonal value, instead of values from discrete events in time.

In this project, an index for calculation of nightly recovery (NR) was suggested. It allowed values from the two shoot water potential measuring occasions to be combined into one value. However, the full relevance of the NR index needs to be further investigated.

Soil water content was monitored with a HH2 moisture meter, which was used to determine volumetric soil moisture at four different depths: 10, 20, 30 and 40 cm below the soil surface. Tubes were installed at the planting sites to obtain a mean/representative value of water availability on the shoot water potential measurement occasions. At Alnarp, the tubes were also used to check water levels, so that irrigation was regularly modified to adequate levels. In Malmö the tubes were installed in different blocks, to check that water levels did not differ between the trees within the planting site. However, another way of monitoring soil water could have been to continuously log soil water content, for a fuller picture, particularly in Malmö, where the trees did not have as regular a water supply as at Alnarp. This would have made the differences between the sites more visible for the whole growing season.

The use of Fv/Fm as a method for determining tree vitality is wide spread (Rahman *et al.*, 2014) and it has also been shown to be a predictor of field capacity for landscape nursery trees (Percival, 2004). However, it has been argued that its sensitivity to detect reduced vitality is restricted to plants that have experienced drought during an extensive period (Resco *et al.*, 2008) which might explain the lack of relationship between Fv/Fm and post-transplant performance in paper IV.

All measuring techniques used in this study are relative and therefore useful in comparative studies where different treatments are being compared. However, since water status is dependent not only on water uptake capacity, but also on water supply and vapour pressure deficit, and since normal shoot growth and leaf area are related to several factors such as species, ontogeny and site, there is no absolute value for any of these determinations that can confirm successful establishment on an individual level. Pre-transplant shoot growth might never be expected on sites with significantly poorer conditions than those in the nursery, potentially making such determinations hard to interpret in an urban context. Having a reliable method for determining establishment and in practice, e.g. in contracts between contractors and assignors, specifying that trees will be established after a certain time, which are potential sources of conflicts. Using the suggested recovery index (Paper IV) might be one such method, but its relevance has to be further investigated.

6 Conclusions

This study aimed at improving our understanding of urban tree establishment by examining four research questions. The main findings of the work are summarised below, in relation to the respective research question.

i. How are nursery root growth and the following post-transplant shoot growth in trees with different root structures affected by different nursery production systems?

The pre-establishing nursery systems - air-potting and fabric container cultivation - had a positive effect on fine-root growth of both red oak and sweet cherry. The two species reacted differently to root pruning, which only had a positive effect on root-growth of the fibrous-rooted sweet cherry. Regardless of production system, shoot growth was strictly limited after transplanting in both species. Shoot growth values were regained in sweet cherry trees from the fabric container, root pruning and balled & burlapped systems three years after transplanting at the site with adequate water availability (Alnarp). There was no absolute similarity between root length at transplanting and post-transplant shoot growth, showing that fine-root stimulation in the nursery does not ensure vivid post-transplant growth. The coarse-rooted red oak trees took a longer time to regain pre-transplant shoot growth than the fibrous-rooted sweet cherry, regardless of the production system used. The results showed that even under good growing conditions, it can take several years for shoot growth to be regained, even for easily transplanted species with fibrous root systems.

ii. Can nursery systems that stimulate fine-root development affect post-transplant water status, resulting in better water uptake capacity, and what effect does site have on water status in red oak and sweet cherry trees produced in different nursery systems?

Air-potted trees of both species showed significantly higher midday shoot water potential values than bare-rooted trees on every measuring occasion during the first year after transplanting at the site with adequate water availability. The fabric-container grown and the root-pruned red oak trees also had significantly higher values than bare-rooted red oak trees. The differences persisted at the pre-dawn measurements during the first post-transplant season for red oak. There were few occasions with differences between production systems for red oak trees at the urban site (Malmö) during the years of the study and no consistency in the results. The results indicate that for the fine-root stimulating measures to be beneficial for water uptake, there has to be adequate water availability at the planting site, indicating that increased amounts of fine-roots cannot compensate for the conditions at dry, urban sites. The results also indicate that for initial acclimatisation to the site conditions, the air-potting system was advantageous, but that the advantages only persisted during the early post-transplant period.

iii. Which morphological characteristics have the greatest influence on establishment assessments, and is it possible to determine tree water status visually during the establishment phase?

The most influential morphological characteristics for visual establishment assessments were leaf colour and leaf shape for red oak and leaf size for sweet cherry. For both species, the characteristic most related to water status was leaf size. No relationship was noticed between visual assessments and water status for either species. Study results suggest that leaf area is a good indicator of progress for the establishment process, but that leaf colour was less important when establishment was defined as the tree's water status, although considered important by tree establishment evaluators. The leaf shape of red oak trees seemed to influence the appearance of the trees to a larger extent than is recognized by evaluators. iv. Does the method used for determining establishment affect the results of an establishment study, and is it possible to predict post-transplant performance already in the nursery?

Comparisons of some commonly used methods for determination of establishment showed that pre-dawn and midday shoot water potential and stomatal conductance were strongly correlated. Terminal and lateral shoot growths were correlated with each other, but the two groups were uncorrelated, when using measurements from the first three post-transplant years for red oak and sweet cherry. The study also indicated that the results from the different measuring methods converged over time. The results from the study indicate that the chosen measuring method influence how establishment is perceived. and that the time scale matters for the results. If establishment is assumed to be restoration of the water balance in the tree, measured as the capability for adequate water uptake, then measuring growth during the first post-transplant period might not reveal the tree's condition. However, if establishment success is assumed to be growth, initial shoot water potential measurements might not show the tree's future capacity for vivid growth. Thus defining what we want to capture when studying tree establishment is relevant for better understanding, within different research studies, and between practitioners. Currently, there is no absolute determination for establishment success, since every measure is dependent on the surrounding circumstances. Moreover, normality is relative, making determinations of e.g. growth difficult to interpret. A calculation of nightly recovery is suggested in this project as one way of including both midday- and pre-dawn shoot water potential measurements. The relevance of the NR index needs to be further investigated.

Post-transplant performance on individual tree level could not be predicted by determination of chlorophyll fluorescence, shoot growth or stem circumference in the nursery. Possible explanations for the lack of relation between pre- and post-transplant performance of the landscape-sized trees included in the study are that the complexity of the tree history increases with tree size and/or that other factors, such as transport from the nursery to the transplant site, have a larger influence over post-transplant vitality than nursery vitality.

7 Future studies

This project focused on the first part of the post-transplant life of trees in urban areas. The potential influence of different production systems on long-term survival and prosperity has been little investigated and should be of interest in future studies. Moreover, the long-term effects of production system on root systems would be interesting to follow. In studies of root-shoot balance there are discussions on the functionality of the root systems. Further studies are needed to determine whether the different nursery production systems included in the study provide roots of different quality or functionality. The way in which the term establishment is used and how that affects the assessment of trees after transplanting also needs clarification.

8 Literature cited

- Abdelfatah, A., Aranda, X., Save, R., De Herralde, F. & Biel, C. (2013). Evaluation of the response of maximum daily shrinkage in young cherry trees submitted to water stress cycles in a greenhouse. Agricultural Water Management, 118, pp. 150-158.
- Abrams, M.D. (1990). Adaptations and responses to drought in quercus species of north-america. Tree Physiology, 7(1-4), pp. 227-238.
- Aghai, M.M., Pinto, J.R. & Davis, A.S. (2014). Container volume and growing density influence western larch (larix occidentalis nutt.) seedling development during nursery culture and establishment. New Forests, 45(2), pp. 199-213.
- Akbari, H. (2005). Energy saving potentials and air quality benefits of urban heatislandmitigation. First International Conference on Passive and LowEnergy Cooling for the Built Environment. Athens, Greece.
- Amoroso, G., Frangi, P., Piatti, R., Ferrini, F., Fini, A. & Faoro, M. (2010). Effect of container design on plant growth and root deformation of littleleaf linden and field elm. Hortscience, 45(12), pp. 1824-1829.
- Anella, L., Hennessey, T.C. & Lorenzi, E.M. (2008). Growth of balled-and-burlapped versus bare-root trees in oklahoma, u.S. Arboriculture & Urban Forestry, 34(3), pp. 200-203.
- Appleton, B.L. (1995). Nursery production methods for improving tree roots an update. Journal of Arboriculture, 21(6), pp. 265-270.
- Bartens, J., Day, S.D., Harris, J.R., Wynn, T.M. & Dove, J.E. (2009). Transpiration and root development of urban trees in structural soil stormwater reservoirs. Environmental Management, 44(4), pp. 646-657.
- Beckett, K.P., Freer-Smith, P.H. & Taylor, G. (2000). The capture of particulate pollution by trees at five contrasting urban sites. Arboricultural Journal, 24(2-3), pp. 209-230.
- Beeson, R.C., Jr. (1994). Water relations of field-grown quercus virginiana mill. From preharvest through containerization and 1 year into a landscape. Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science, 119(2).
- Beeson, R.C., Jr. & Gilman, E.F. (1992). Diurnal water stress during landscape establishment of slash pine differs among three production methods. Journal of Arboriculture, 18(6), pp. 281-287.

- Brack, C.L. (2002). Pollution mitigation and carbon sequestration by an urban forest. Environmental Pollution, 116, pp. S195-S200.
- Brouwer, R. (1983). Functional equilibrium sense or nonsense. Netherlands Journal of Agricultural Science, 31(4), pp. 335-348.
- Buckstrup, M.J. & Bassuk, N.L. (2000). Transplanting success of balled-and-burlapped versus bare-root trees in the urban landscape. Journal of Arboriculture, 26(6), pp. 298-308.
- Buhler, O., Kristoffersen, P. & Larsen, S.U. (2007). Growth of street trees in copenhagen with emphasis on the effect of different establishment concepts. Arboriculture & Urban Forestry, 33(5), pp. 330-337.
- Bumgarner, M.L., Salifu, K.F. & Jacobs, D.F. (2008). Subirrigation of quercus rubra seedlings: Nursery stock quality, media chemistry, and early field performance. Hortscience, 43(7), pp. 2179-2185.
- Burdett, A.N. (1990). Physiological processes in plantation establishment and the development of specifications for forest planting stock. Canadian Journal of Forest Research-Revue Canadienne De Recherche Forestiere, 20(4), pp. 415-427.
- Campbell, D.B., Kiiskila, S., Philip, L.J., Zwiazek, J.J. & Jones, M.D. (2006). Effects of forest floor planting and stock type on growth and root emergence of pinus contorta seedlings in a cold northern cutblock. New Forests, 32(2), pp. 145-162.
- Davies, Z.G., Edmondson, J.L., Heinemeyer, A., Leake, J.R. & Gaston, K.J. (2011). Mapping an urban ecosystem service: Quantifying above-ground carbon storage at a city-wide scale. Journal of Applied Ecology, 48(5), pp. 1125-1134.
- Day, S.D. & Harris, J.R. (2007). Fertilization of red maple (acer rubrum) and littleleaf linden (tilia cordata) trees at recommended rates does not aid tree establishment. Arboriculture & Urban Forestry, 33(2), pp. 113-121.
- Dirr, M.A. (1983). Manual of woody landscape plants: Their identification, ornamental characteristics, culture, propagation and uses. Third edition. ed. Champaign. Illinois: Stipes Publishing Company.
- Dirr, M.A. (2004). Dirr's hardy trees and schrubs. Portland, Oregon, U.S.A.: Timber Press.
- Dobbertin, M. (2005). Tree growth as indicator of tree vitality and of tree reaction to environmental stress: A review. European Journal of Forest Research, 124(4), pp. 319-333.
- Donovan, G.H., Michael, Y.L., Butry, D.T., Sullivan, A.D. & Chase, J.M. (2011). Urban trees and the risk of poor birth outcomes. Health & Place, 17(1), pp. 390-393.
- Escobedo, F.J. & Nowak, D.J. (2009). Spatial heterogeneity and air pollution removal by an urban forest. Landscape and Urban Planning, 90(3-4), pp. 102-110.
- Farquhar, G.D. & Richards, R.A. (1984). Isotopic composition of plant carbon correlates with water-use efficiency of wheat genotypes. Australian Journal of Plant Physiology, 11(6), pp. 539-552.
- Ferrini, F. & Nicese, F.P. (2006). Effect of container type nursery techniques on growth and chlorophyll content of acer platanoides l. And liquidambar styraciflua l. Plants. Journal of Food Agriculture & Environment, 4(3-4), pp. 209-213.
- Ferrini, F., Nicese, F.P., Mancuso, S. & Giuntoli, A. (2000). Effect of nursery production method and planting techniques on tree establishment in urban sites: Preliminary results. Journal of Arboriculture, 26(5), pp. 281-284.

- Fini, A., Ferrini, F., Di Ferdinando, M., Brunetti, C., Giordano, C., Gerini, F. & Tattini, M. (2014). Acclimation to partial shading or full sunlight determines the performance of container-grown fraxinus ornus to subsequent drought stress. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 13(1), pp. 63-70.
- Gilbertson, P. & Bradshaw, A.D. (1990). The survival of newly planted trees in inner cities. Arboricultural Journal, 14(4), pp. 287-309.
- Gilman, E.F. (2001). Effect of nursery production method, irrigation, and inoculation with mycorrhizae-forming fungi on establishment of quercus virginiana. Journal of Arboriculture, 27(1), pp. 30-38.
- Gilman, E.F. & Beeson, R.C., Jr. (1996a). Nursery production method affects root growth. Journal of Environmental Horticulture, 14(2), pp. 88-91.
- Gilman, E.F. & Beeson, R.C., Jr. (1996b). Production method affects tree establishment in the landscape. Journal of Environmental Horticulture, 14(2), pp. 81-87.
- Gilman, E.F., Black, R.J. & Dehgan, B. (1998). Irrigation volume and frequency and tree size affect establishment rate. Journal of Arboriculture, 24(1), pp. 1-9.
- Gilman, E.F., Harchick, C. & Paz, M. (2010a). Effect of container type on root form and growth of red maple. Journal of Environmental Horticulture, 28(1), pp. 1-7.
- Gilman, E.F., Harchick, C. & Paz, M. (2010b). Effect of tree size, root pruning, and production method on establishment of quercus virginiana. Arboriculture & Urban Forestry, 36(4), pp. 183-190.
- Grabosky, J. & Bassuk, N. (1995). A new urban tree soil to safely increase rooting volumes under sidewalks. Journal of Arboriculture, 21(4), pp. 187-201.
- Gregg, J.W., Jones, C.G. & Dawson, T.E. (2003). Urbanization effects on tree growth in the vicinity of new york city. Nature, 424(6945), pp. 183-187.
- Gregory, P. (2006). Plant roots. Growth, activity and interaction with soils. Oxford: Blackwell Publishing, Ltd.
- Grossnickle, S.C. (2005). Importance of root growth in overcoming planting stress. New Forests, 30(2-3), pp. 273-294.
- Hanson, P.J., Dickson, R.E., Isebrands, J.G., Crow, T.R. & Dixon, R.K. (1986). A morphological index of quercus seedling ontogeny for use in studies of physiology and growth. Tree Physiology, 2(1-3), pp. 273-281.
- Harris, J.R. (2007). Transplanting large trees. CAB Reviews: Perspectives in Agriculture, Veterinary Science, Nutrition and Natural Resources, 2(024), p. 7 pp.
- Harris, J.R. & Gilman, E.F. (1993). Production method affects growth and posttransplant establishment of east palatka holly. Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science, 118(2), pp. 194-200.
- Harris, J.R., Knight, P. & Fanelli, J. (1998). Effect of root severance on growth of field-grown sugar maple. Hortscience, 33(1), pp. 21-23.
- Helms, J.A. (ed.) (1998). The dictionary of forestry. Bethesda Society of American Foresters.
- Hermans, C., Hammond, J.P., White, P.J. & Verbruggen, N. (2006). How do plants respond to nutrient shortage by biomass allocation? Trends in Plant Science, 11(12), pp. 610-617.
- Hirons, A.D. & Percival, G.C. (2012). Fundamentals of tree establishment: A review. (Research Report - Forestry Commission, UK. Edinburgh, UK: Forestry Commission.

- Jackson, L.E., Daniel, J., Mccorkle, B., Sears, A. & Bush, K.F. (2013). Linking ecosystem services and human health: The eco-health relationship browser. International Journal of Public Health, 58(5), pp. 747-755.
- Jacobs, D.F., Salifu, K.F. & Seifert, J.R. (2005). Relative contribution of initial root and shoot morphology in predicting field performance of hardwood seedlings. New Forests, 30(2-3), pp. 235-251.
- Johnstone, D., Moore, G., Tausz, M. & Nicolas, M. (2013). The measurement of plant vitality in landscape trees. Arboricultural Journal, 35(1), pp. 18-27.
- Jones, M.D., Kiiskila, S. & Flanagan, A. (2002). Field performance of pine stock types: Two-year results of a trial on interior lodgepole pine seedlings grown in styroblocks tm, copperblocks tm, or airblocks tm. BC Journal of Ecosystems and Management, 2(1), pp. 59-70.
- Koeser, A.K., Stewart, J.R., Bollero, G.A., Bullock, D.G. & Struve, D.K. (2009). Impacts of handling and transport on the growth and survival of balled-and-burlapped trees. Hortscience, 44(1), pp. 53-58.
- Konijnendijk, C.C., Ricard, R.M., Kenney, A. & Randrup, T.B. (2006). Defining urban forestry a comparative perspective of north america and europe. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 4(3/4), pp. 93-103.
- Kozlowski, T.T. & Pallardy, S.G. (2002). Acclimation and adaptive responses of woody plants to environmental stresses. Botanical Review, 68(2), pp. 270-334.
- Krüssmann, G. (1986). Manual of cultivated broadleaved trees & schrubsIII). Berlin and Hamburg: Verlag Paul Parey.
- Lauderdale, D.M., Gilliam, C.H., Eakes, D.J., Keever, G.J. & Chappelka, A.H. (1995). Tree transplant size influences post-transplant growth, gas exchange, and leaf water potential of 'october glory' red maple. Journal of Environmental Horticulture, 13(4).
- Lavender, D.P., Sweet, G.B., Zaerr, J.B. & Hermann, R.K. (1973). Spring shoot growth in douglas-fir may be initiated by gibberellins exported from roots. Science, 182(4114), pp. 838-839.
- Lindqvist, H. (2000). Plant vitality in deciduous ornamental plants affected by lifting date and cold storage. Diss.: Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences.
- Lloyd, J.E., Herms, D.A., Rose, M.A. & Van Wagoner, J. (2006). Fertilization rate and irrigation scheduling in the nursery influence growth, insect performance, and stress tolerance of 'sutyzam' crabapple in the landscape. Hortscience, 41(2), pp. 442-445.
- LRF (2012). Kvalitetsregler för plantskoleväxter (eng: Quality rules for nursery plants). (http://www.lrf.se/PageFiles/98759/Kvalitetsregler%20slutgiltig.pdf: Federation of swedish farmers (LRF).
- Löf, M., Thomsen, A., & Madsen, P. (2004). Sowing and transplanting of broadleaves (*Fagus sylvativa* L., *Quercus robur* L., *Prunus avium* L. and *Crataegus monogyna* Jacg.) for afforestation of farmland. Forest ecology and management, 188, pp. 113-123.
- Marschner, H., Kirkby, E.A. & Cakmak, I. (1996). Effect of mineral nutritional status on shootroot partitioning of photoassimilates and cycling of mineral nutrients. Journal of Experimental Botany, 47, pp. 1255-1263.

- Martinez-Trinidad, T., Watson, W.T., Arnold, M.A., Lombardini, L. & Appel, D.N. (2010). Comparing various techniques to measure tree vitality of live oaks. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 9(3), pp. 199-203.
- Mcartney, S.J. & Ferree, D.C. (1999). Shading effects on dry matter partitioning, remobilization of stored reserves and early season vegetative development of grapevines in the year after treatment. Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science, 124(6), pp. 591-597.
- Mcmillin, J.D. & Wagner, M.R. (1995). Effects of water-stress on biomass partitioning of ponderosa pine-seedlings during primary root-growth and shoot growth periods. Forest Science, 41(3), pp. 594-610.
- Neal, B.A. & Whitlow, T.H. (1997). Using tree growth rates to evaluate urban tree planting specifications. Journal of Environmental Horticulture, 15(2), pp. 115-118.
- Nowak, D.J. & Crane, D.E. (2002). Carbon storage and sequestration by urban trees in the USA. Environmental Pollution, 116(3), pp. 381-389.
- Nowak, D.J., Mcbride, J.R. & Beatty, R.A. (1990). Newly planted street tree growth and mortality. Journal of Arboriculture, 16(5), pp. 124-129.
- Oke, T.R. (1982). The energetic basis of the urban heat-island. Quarterly Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society, 108(455), pp. 1-24.
- Pacifici, S., Cacini, S., Burchi, G. & Grassotti, A. (2013). Physiological quality of nursery plants for urban design and overcoming transplanting stress in rosa 'knock out'. In: Huylenbroeck, J.V., Labeke, M.C.V. & Laere, K.V. (eds) Acta Horticulturae. (ISHS Acta Horticulturae 990: 2 International symposium on woody ornamentals of the temperate zone. Leuven, Belgium.
- Percival, G.C. (2004). Evaluation of physiological tests as predictors of young tree establishment and growth. Journal of Arboriculture, 30(2), pp. 80-91.
- Pinto, J.R., Dumroese, R.K., Davis, A.S. & Landis, T.D. (2011a). Conducting seedling stocktype trials: A new approach to an old question. Journal of Forestry, 109(5), pp. 293-299.
- Pinto, J.R., Marshall, J.D., Dumroese, R.K., Davis, A.S. & Cobos, D.R. (2011b). Establishment and growth of container seedlings for reforestation: A function of stocktype and edaphic conditions. Forest Ecology and Management, 261(11), pp. 1876-1884.
- Pouyat, R.V., Mcdonnell, M.J. & Pickett, S.T.A. (1995). Soil characteristics of oak stands along an urban-rural land-use gradient. Journal of Environmental Quality, 24(3), pp. 516-526.
- Rahman, M.A., Armson, D. & Ennos, A.R. (2014). Effect of urbanization and climate change in the rooting zone on the growth and physiology of pyrus calleryana. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 13(2), pp. 325-335.
- Raven, P., Evert, R. & Eichhorn, S. (1999). Biology of plantsSixth edition). New York: W.H. Freeman and Company.
- Resco, V., Ignace, D.D., Sun, W., Huxman, T.E., Weltzin, J.F. & Williams, D.G. (2008). Chlorophyll fluorescence, predawn water potential and photosynthesis in precipitation pulsedriven ecosystems - implications for ecological studies. Functional Ecology, 22(3), pp. 479-483.
- Richardson-Calfee, L.E., Harris, J.R. & Fanelli, J.K. (2007). Posttransplant root and shoot growth periodicity of sugar maple. Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science, 132(2), pp. 147-157.

- Rietveld, W.J. (1989). Transplanting stress in bareroot conifer seedlings: Its development and progression to establishment. Northern Journal of Applied Forestry, 6(3), pp. 99-107.
- Roman, L.A., Battles, J.J. & Mcbride, J.R. (2014a). The balance of planting and mortality in a street tree population. Urban Ecosystems, 17(2), pp. 387-404.
- Roman, L.A., Battles, J.J. & Mcbride, J.R. (2014b). Determinants of establishment survival for residential trees in sacramento county, ca. Landscape and Urban Planning, 129, pp. 22-31.
- Rook, G.A. (2013). Regulation of the immune system by biodiversity from the natural environment: An ecosystem service essential to health. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 110(46), pp. 18360-18367.
- Sæbø, A., Popek, R., Nawrot, B., Hanslin, H.M., Gawronska, H. & Gawronski, S.W. (2012). Plant species differences in particulate matter accumulation on leaf surfaces. Science of the Total Environment, 427, pp. 347-354.
- Scheiber, S.M., Gilman, E.F., Paz, M. & Moore, K.A. (2007). Irrigation affects landscape establishment of burford holly, pittosporum, and sweet viburnum. Hortscience, 42(2), pp. 344-348.
- Scholander, P.F., Hammel, H.T., Bradstreet, E.D. & Hemmingsen, E.A. (1965). Sap pressure in vascular plants. Science, 148, pp. 339-346.
- Schroeder, H.W. & Cannon, W.N., Jr. (1983). The esthetic contribution of trees to residential streets in ohio towns. Journal of Arboriculture, 9(9), pp. 237-243.
- Schuch, U.K., Pittenger, D.R. & Barker, P.A. (2000). Comparing effects of container treatments on nursery production and field establishment of trees with different root systems. Journal of Environmental Horticulture, 18(2), pp. 83-88.
- Searle, S.Y., Turnbull, M.H., Boelman, N.T., Schuster, W.S.F., Yakir, D. & Griffin, K.L. (2012). Urban environment of new york city promotes growth in northern red oak seedlings. Tree Physiology, 32(4), pp. 389-400.
- Setala, H., Viippola, V., Rantalainen, A.-L., Pennanen, A. & Yli-Pelkonen, V. (2013). Does urban vegetation mitigate air pollution in northern conditions? Environmental Pollution, 183, pp. 104-112.
- Shipley, B. & Meziane, D. (2002). The balanced-growth hypothesis and the allometry of leaf and root biomass allocation. Functional Ecology, 16(3), pp. 326-331.
- Solfjeld, I. & Hansen, O.B. (2004). Post-transplant growth of five deciduous nordic tree species as affected by transplanting date and root pruning. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 2(3), pp. 129-137.
- Solfjeld, I. & Pedersen, P.A. (2006). Growth of betula pendula roth. The first season after transplanting at two phenological stages. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 5(2), pp. 101-106.
- Soukup, A., Mala, J., Hrubcova, M., Kalal, J., Votrubova, O. & Cvikrova, M. (2004). Differences in anatomical structure and lignin content of roots of pedunculate oak and wild cherry-tree plantlets during acclimation. Biologia Plantarum, 48(4), pp. 481-489.
- Struve, D.K. (1990). Root regeneration in transplanted deciduous nursery stock. Hortscience, 25(3), pp. 266-270.
- Struve, D.K. (1993). Effect of copper-treated containers on transplant survival and regrowth of four tree species. Journal of Environmental Horticulture, 11(4), pp. 196-199.

- Struve, D.K. (2009). Tree establishment: A review of some of the factors affecting transplant survival and establishment. Arboriculture & Urban Forestry, 35(1), pp. 10-13.
- Struve, D.K., Burchfield, L. & Maupin, C. (2000). Survival and growth of transplanted large- and small-caliper red oaks. Journal of Arboriculture, 26(3), pp. 162-169.
- Struve, D.K. & Joly, R.J. (1992). Transplanted red oak seedlings mediate transplant shock by reducing leaf surface area and altering carbon allocation. Canadian Journal of Forest Research, 22, pp. 1441-1448.
- Struve, D.K., Sydnor, T.D. & Rideoout, R. (1989). Root system configuration affects transplanting of honeylocust and english oak. Journal of Arboriculture, 15(6), pp. 129-134.
- Summit, J. & Sommer, R. (1999). Further studies of preferred tree shapes. Environment and Behavior, 31(4), pp. 550-576.
- Taiz, L. & Zeiger, E. (1998). Plant physiology. 2nd edition. ed: Sinauer Associates, Inc.
- Turnbull, M.H., Murthy, R. & Griffin, K.L. (2002). The relative impacts of daytime and nighttime warming on photosynthetic capacity in populus deltoides. Plant Cell and Environment, 25(12), pp. 1729-1737.
- Turner, N.C. (1988). Measurement of plant water status by the pressure chamber technique. Irrigation Science, 9, pp. 289-308.
- Tyrväinen, L., Makinen, K. & Schipperijn, J. (2007). Tools for mapping social values of urban woodlands and other green areas. Landscape and Urban Planning, 79(1), pp. 5-19.
- Ulrich, R.S. (1984). View through a window may influence recovery from surgery. Science, 224(4647), pp. 420-421.
- Wang, M., Jiang, Y., Wei, X., Liang, H., Chai, S. & Wang, X. (2012). Morphological and physiological responses of sophora japonica seedlings to light intensity. Journal of Northeast Forestry University, 40(5), pp. 13-21.
- vanHees, A.F.M. (1997). Growth and morphology of pedunculate oak (quercus robur l) and beech (fagus sylvatica l) seedlings in relation to shading and drought. Annales Des Sciences Forestieres, 54(1), pp. 9-18.
- Watson, G. (1985). Tree size affects root regeneration and top growth after transplanting. Journal of Arboriculture, 11(2), pp. 37-40.
- Watson, G. & Himelick, E.B. (1997). Principles and practice of planting trees and schrubs. Champaign, Illinois: International Society of Arboriculture.
- Watson, G.W. & Himelick, E.B. (2013). Root-friendly planting site design. Arborist News, 22(2), pp. 64-68.
- Williams, L.E. & Araujo, F.J. (2002). Correlations among predawn leaf, midday leaf, and midday stem water potential and their correlations with other measures of soil and plant water status in vitis vinifera. Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science, 127(3), pp. 448-454.
- Wilson, E.R., Vitols, K.C. & Park, A. (2007). Root characteristics and growth potential of container and bare-root seedlings of red oak (quercus rubra l.) in ontario, canada. New Forests, 34(2), pp. 163-176.
- Yin, J.J., Bassuk, N.L., Olberg, M.W. & Bauerle, T.L. (2014). Fine root hydraulic conductance is related to post-transplant recovery of two quercus tree species. Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science, 139(6), pp. 649-656.

Acknowledgements

Det finns många personer som har berikat livet under den här processen, på och utanför arbetsplatsen. Tack alla för det! Särskilda tack vill jag dock rikta till:

Ann-Mari, för din entusiasm, ditt engagemang som huvudhandledare och i livet i stort, och din generositet med kunskap och uppmuntran. Tack för att du alltid har visat att du tror på mig!

Cecil, för att du, med hatten som insats, ville vara min handledare i slutskedet, och alltid läser, svarar och stöttar precis när man behöver det!

Jan Erik Mattsson och Kaj Rolf för handledning under projektets start. Och Hasse Lindqvist, för alla diskussioner och fina samtal, och all hjälp i början!

Dirk Dujesiefken, thank you for all the help and encouragement in the beginning of the project!

Jan-Eric Englund, för all hjälp med statistik. Tack för att du alltid intresserar dig och dessutom alltid har lösningar!

Arne Mattsson och Mattias Thelander på Malmö Stad, för all hjälpsamhet med praktiska frågor, och förståelse!

Nils Andersen på Splendor Plant, Claerence Jacobsen på Billbäcks plantskola, Elna Sjöström på Stångby plantskola, och Daniel Johansson på Tönnersjö Plantskola för all hjälp under det första året, och extra tack till dig Daniel, för alla svar på alla mina frågor!

Hanne Kristensen, för all hjälp med att lära mig förstå mig på WinRhizo, och för din gästfrihet och blockflöjtskonsert!

Personalen på trädgårdslabbet, Alexandra, Joakim, Karin och Johannes, för all möjlig skötselhjälp och för gott sällskap och roliga diskussioner under alla dessa mätdagar! Och Karin, tack för all mätassistens, tidiga morgnar till sena kvällar!

Alla doktorandkollegor som jag har haft förmånen att arbeta samtidigt som, och lära mig mycket av, under åren; Annika, Therese, Petra, Helena, Tian,

Johan Ö, Henrik, Gustav, Johan P och Björn. And the mothers of the landscape babies – Hanna, Märit and Ling, thank you for nice talks and good times! Arne Sæbø, för gästfriheten och hjälpen med att komma vidare i projektet! Cecilia Öxell, för gott samarbete, och livsnödvändiga samtal!

Kära vänner; Therese och Johan – för all uppmuntran, härliga stunder och sena nätters diskussioner. Vilken supertur att vi träffade er! Anna – för att du har lovat att tycka om mig oavsett... Totte, Brita, Cornelia, Martin, Rebecca och Staffan, Clara och Johan, Acco och Jan, för att ni är så bra! Emmy, för att vi fick uppleva din sprudlande livsglädje och godhet.

Jag vill också tacka min stora familj – Kajsa, Carl och Mathilda, Mamma och Pappa, Prajay, Dino och Bianca, extrasystrarna-mostrarna och fältassistenterna Amanda och Fian, Helena, Mormor, Farmor, och Anne-Marie och Kent, både för allt ert stöd och all hjälp, och för att ni gör livet utanför det här så värdefullt. Tacksamheten ryms inte här! Ett särskilt stort tack till Anne-Marie för att du ger så mycket av din tid – utan den hade det inte gått! Ett speciellt tack också till Mormor och Farmor. Det är en ynnest att få vara nära två så kloka, egensinniga och vackra damer, och att alltid genom livet ha känt ert stöd!

Och min lilla familj; älskade Tobias, du gör så att livet känns fint tillochmed i stunder när det inte är det. Tack för att det är vi, och för all hjälp. August, Sigge och Harry, ni är de finaste som finns. Tack för att ni ständigt påminner mig om vad som är viktigt i livet!